
CITY OF RICHARDSON 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – NOVEMBER  19, 2024 

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on November 19, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Multipurpose Room #CH157 of the Richardson City Hall, 2360 Campbell Creek Boulevard, Suite 
525, Richardson, TX. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
Kenneth Southard, Vice Chairman 
Joe Costantino, Commissioner 
Nate Roberts, Commissioner 
Michael Keller, Commissioner 
Gary Beach, Commissioner 
Byron Purdy, Commissioner 
Sebrena Bohnsack, Commissioner 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Rebecca Poynter, Commissioner 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Charles Goff, Assistant City Manager 
Derica Peters, Senior Planner 
Amber Pollan, Planner – Strategic Planning 
Anna Jo Castaneda, Executive Secretary 

BRIEFING SESSION 
Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff 
regarding staff reports and agenda items. No action was taken. 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1. Approval of Minutes of the regular business meeting of October 3, 2024.

Motion: Commissioner Costantino made a motion to approve the minutes as presented. 
Commissioner Beach seconded the Motion. Motion passed 7-0. 

Approval of Minutes of the regular business meeting of October 29, 2024. 

Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to approve the minutes as presented. 
Commissioner Beach seconded the Motion. Motion passed 7-0. 

PUBLIC HEARING 

2. Zoning File 24-21 PD Planned Development – Lennox Innovation R&D Center:
(Continued from October 3, 2024)  Consider and act on a request to rezone approximately
7.52-acres from O-M Office with special conditions to PD Planned Development for the
O-M Office District with amended development standards to accommodate the
development of a 45,000-square foot research and development building at 2140 Lake
Park Boulevard, on the north side of Lake Park Boulevard, east of Lake Park Way.
Owner: Lennox International Inc. Staff: Derica Peters.

APPROVED



 
 2 
 

Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to recommend continuance of the public 
hearing until December 17, 2024, at 7:00 pm. Vice Chairman Southard 
seconded the motion. Motion passed 7-0. 

 
 

3. Zoning File 24-24 PD Planned Development - Valencia Villas: (Continued from 
October 3, 2024) Consider and act upon a request for approval to rezone approximately 
4.08-acres located at 601 E. Main Street, north of E. Main Street, east of Grove Road, 
from R-1500-M Residential Temp District to PD Planned Development District for a 
townhome development with 38-units. Owner Jamy Properties LLC. Staff: Derica Peters.  
 

Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to recommend continuance of the public 
hearing until December 3, 2024, at 7:00 pm. Commissioner Beach seconded the 
motion. Motion passed 7-0. 

 
 

4. Zoning File 24-25 Special Permit – Haraz Coffee House:  Consider and act on a 
request for approval of a Special Permit for a restaurant with drive-through service on a 
0.85-acre lot currently zoned O/C Office/ Commercial within a 3,000-square foot 
existing lease space located at 508 Centennial Boulevard, south of Centennial Boulevard, 
west of Audelia Road. Owner: Jamal Gharbieh, representing Centennial Falls, LLC. 
Staff: Derica Peters. 

 
Amber Pollan, Planner, stated the special permit request is for a restaurant with drive through 
service for Haraz Coffee House located at 508 Centennial Blvd and is zoned O/C Office 
Commercial. The area was rezoned in 2018 under Ordinance 4245, to require a Special Permit for 
a restaurant with drive-through or curb service in the O/C zone. The surrounding properties are 
also zoned for O/C Office Commercial with some drive-throughs and the north side of Centennial 
Blvd is R1100-M Residential. 
 
Ms. Pollan stated the 3,000 square foot building was occupied by a dry cleaner from at least 2007 
until 2017. In 2018, prior to Ordinance 4245 going into effect, a site plan and landscape plan was 
approved by the City Plan Commission and City Council for a 2,000 square foot addition for office 
space on the west side with the expectation that the 3,000 square foot lease space would be for a 
restaurant with a drive-through use. At that time a drive-through was allowed as an outright use so 
the addition went through standard site plan reviews only. Later that year the Buckingham 
Ordinance was adopted, which included the requirement of a special permit for drive-throughs. 
 
Ms. Pollan advised that construction of the 2,000 square foot space was completed in 2021 and 
has been occupied by an office and retail use, however, the eastern 3,000 square foot lease space 
that included the drive-through has been vacant. As 180 days have lapsed without establishing the 
use, a Special Permit is now required. The site was developed with parking and landscaping as 
well as the pedestrian access from the sidewalk along Centennial Blvd to the front of the building. 
The only modifications being proposed in the developed site’s concept plan would be for a menu 
board and speaker in the drive-through lanes on the south side of the building. 
Ms. Pollan stated applicant is proposing to operate a Yemeni coffee shop, Haraz Coffee House, 
serving coffee, tea, pastries, and desserts with indoor seating available for forty (40) people. The 
proposed hours of operation are 8:00 am to 10:00 pm and 36 parking spaces are required with 51 

APPROVED



 
 3 
 
spaces provided. Approximately fourteen (14) vehicles can stack within the two drive-through 
lanes including the area along the west side of the building. Each lane will have a menu board and 
speaker ordering system where they que up and merge into a single lane that comes up to the drive-
up window. Vehicles entering the property will be able to access the drive-through lanes with 2-
way traffic and can circle the building counterclockwise. 
 
Ms. Pollan explained the residential area to the south, Towns of Buckingham, was noticed and 
comments were received from nine residents in opposition and one neutral. The concerns related 
to lighting, noise impacts, and concerns with littering and pollution. The Director of Health has 
indicated that there have been no noise complaints along this area regarding drive-through speakers 
and the City has performance noise standards they monitor. Lighting is established on site and can 
be verified it meets the standard. Ms. Pollan stated she was available for any questions. 
  
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any plans to put more lights in the drive-through lanes. 
 
Ms. Pollan advised the applicant was available to answer that question. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked why the presentation stated the applicant was a restaurant and not a 
coffee house. 
 
Ms. Pollan answered a coffee shop is not a separate use in the code. It is considered a restaurant 
as it serves food. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any other questions for staff, seeing none the public hearing 
was opened and the applicant was asked to come forward. 
 
Subhi Gharbieh, 508 Centennial Blvd, Richardson, property owner stated they had a tenant who 
signed a lease to occupy the space and paid rent for over two (2) years at that time the drive-
through was allowed. However, the perspective tenant did not end up occupying the space. They 
have a new tenant for consideration now. Mr. Gharbieh stated he wanted to address the neighbors’ 
concerns by advising there would be no additional lighting, a sweeper company sweeps the parking 
lot twice a week and his employees pick up trash that may have scattered around. Mr. Gharbieh 
introduced a representative of the coffee shop that was available to answer questions. 
 
Usef Jalen, 4341 14th Street, Plano manager of Haraz Coffee shop in Plano stated they intend to 
keep the inside and outside of the property clean.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the Commission had any questions for the applicant or property owner.  
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked what distinguishes Yemeni coffee from other coffee. 
 
Mr. Jalen answered that Yemeni coffee beans are considered high quality with a distinct flavor 
and aroma. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked what the hours of operation would be at the Centennial location. 
Mr. Jalen answered hours of operation inside the shop will be 7:00 am to 11:00 pm and the drive-
through hours will be 8:00 am to 10:00 pm Monday through Sunday. 
 

APPROVED



 
 4 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there was a difference in traffic for the drive-through and the restaurant. 
 
Mr. Jalen stated they expect the drive-through to be busiest in the morning and more sit-down 
customers in the afternoon. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked how many locations there are for the company. 
 
Mr. Jalen replied he did not know and that his is a franchise, but it is a fast-growing company. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if they thought about using employees to take drive-through orders instead 
of having menu boards and speakers. 
 
Mr. Jalen stated at this time they did not have enough business to do that. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked to confirm the menu board and speakers will be located behind the building 
to the south. 
 
Mr. Jalen answered yes. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked Mr. Gharbieh if he was the owner of the building or a tenant. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh answered he and his father own the property and his office occupies the west portion. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked when they acquired the property. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh replied 2017. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the townhomes to the south had been built by 2018 when they made the 
application to the city for the addition and drive-through. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh said the townhomes had already been built. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked to confirm that there was no public hearing or public comments when he 
made the application in 2018.  
 
Mr. Gharbieh said that a hearing was not required because it was an allowed use. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked what the use was that required the drive-through at that time. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh replied the tenant was a coffee shop called Big Love Coffee. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if having the drive-through traffic would make it difficult for his office to 
conduct business.   
 
Mr. Gharbieh stated he had no concerns. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked if they would consider constructing a taller masonry wall to reduce 
noise as a way to address concerns about noise from the residents. 

APPROVED



 
 5 
 
 
Mr. Gharbieh emphasized the importance of purchasing a state-of-the-art system like the Delphi 
menu board and speaker used by restaurants such as McDonalds and Chick-fil-a. Their boards 
have volume control on the speakers that projects sound directly at the vehicle.   
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any other questions for the applicant, seeing none he asked if 
there was anyone who wanted to speak in favor or against the request. 
 
James Matthew Danner, 832 Rohan Drive, Richardson, stated he is an owner and one of the HOA 
Board of Directors for the Townes of Buckingham He said he is in favor of community 
revitalization; however, his concern is related to the drive-through. The other Haraz locations that 
were shown were not placed by a residential community and did not have a drive-through. Mr. 
Danner pointed out the drive-through is next to the wall that separates the properties so noise and 
exhaust from cars from 7:00 am to 10:00 pm was expected. 
 
Mr. Zaher Elkik, 825 Dartford Drive, Richardson stated his was concern was about the trash, noise, 
lighting, and car emissions. In addition, there would be traffic issues with cars coming out of the 
drive-through, wanting to turn left back toward the city with only one shared access crossover.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked Mr. Gharbieh if he would like to speak on the concerns from the 
neighborhood.  
 
Mr. Gharbieh commented it was unfortunate the previous use fell through because they had put so 
much money into developing the property with a drive-through. Lighting had been upgraded in 
the last few years to purposefully keep light from shining into the neighbors’ windows; and the 
menu board speaker will direct its sound to the driver.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked what he thought about the westbound morning traffic. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh stated he does not have any concerns because the drive-through will be a small part 
of the business for Haraz. There is no median cut at their site, but customers can exit at the shared 
drive between Braums and Sonic or at Walgreens onto Whitehall Drive.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if they were allowed to use the crossover access. 
 
Ms. Pollan answered there is shared access between adjacent properties along Centennial Blvd. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if Mr. Gharbieh could estimate the distance from the drive-through 
lanes south of the building back to the townhomes. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh replied 100 to 200 feet. 
 
Commissioner Bohnsack asked if he could address the residents concern about walkability and 
pedestrian safety. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh commented he saw few pedestrians on Centennial, and they complied during 
redevelopment of the property with an access from the sidewalk. 
 

APPROVED



 
 6 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if there was pedestrian access through the wall behind the building. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh answered no. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if the neighboring businesses have similar walls. 
 
Mr. Gharbieh answered no. 
 
James Matthew Danner came forward and stated that the shared crossover at Braums was not light 
protected to turn left, but there is a light at Whitehall to turn left or go down to the light at Grove 
and make a U-turn. 
 
Seeing no more speakers, Chairman Marsh made a motion to close the public hearing. 
Commissioner Beach seconded the motion and motion passed 7-0. 
 
Commissioner Beach commented they should be given the okay to move forward since the original 
plan included a drive-through. 
 
Chairman Marsh explained he is sympathetic to the applicant since the laws and ordinances 
permitted this use when they bought the property and invested in improvements; and although 
there is a lot of opposition from neighbors, the property has been an award-winning project that 
has revitalized the area.  
 

Motion: Commissioner Keller made a motion to recommend approval of the request as 
presented. Commissioner Beach seconded the motion. Motion passed 6-1 
(Chairman Marsh opposed). 

 

 
5. Zoning File 24-27 Special Permit – 7 Brew Coffee:  Consider and act on a request for 

approval of a Special Permit for a restaurant with drive-through service, on a 0.62-acre 
lot currently zoned LR-M(2) Local Retail, located at 1230 E. Belt Line Road, west of 
Plano Road. Owner: GMC Pursuit JV LLC. Staff: Derice Peters. 

 
Amber Pollan stated the request is for approval of a Special Permit for a restaurant with drive-
through service currently zoned LR-M(2), located on a 0.62 lot developed with a 3,838 square foot 
building at 1230 E. Beltline Road. The last tenant was Velvet Snout, a dog daycare and boarding 
facility, that occupied the building from 2007 until 2020. The site has been vacant since that time. 
Ms. Pollan advised this project was previously proposed and reviewed by the Commission. The 
current ownership and tenant, 7 Brew, brought this request to the City Plan Commission and City 
Council and Ordinance 4445 was approved on January 23, 2023. It rescinded Ordinance 4250 for 
the dog boarding use and granted approval of a Special Permit for a restaurant with drive-through 
service for 7 Brew Coffee. The applicant did not acquire a building permit or receive an extension 
for the Permit within 180 days, therefore the Permit was terminated. 
 
Ms. Pollan stated the site will not have access to the roadway to the north of Beltline Road, but 
they have a shared access drive between the subject property and surrounding properties. The 
primary entrance is on the west side of the lot. There is an access on the south side that will be an 
exit only and signed to ensure all customers are entering the site for stacking and circulation. Ms. 
Pollan indicated that full stacking is thirteen (13) cars in dual lanes with no menu boards or 

APPROVED



 
 7 
 
microphone system. Team members will be stationed with handheld devices taking orders and will 
direct traffic through the drive to ensure proper stacking. 
 
Ms. Pollan explained the business will provide coffee, tea, energy drinks, smoothies and shakes 
with drive-through service only. There is no indoor customer seating. The hours of operation will 
be 5:30 am to 10:00 pm, Sunday through Thursday, and 5:30 am to 11:00 pm on Friday and 
Saturday. A review on peak traffic was done that estimated 8:00-9:00 am as their peak hours and 
based on their available stacking, order fulfillment times, and peak of 60 arrival trips in the am 
hours, they could handle all orders without traffic impacting any adjacent properties. As there is 
no indoor seating, parking requirements are proposed by an alternate plan. 7 Brew indicated 8-10 
employees will work per shift, so an alternative parking standard of a minimum of seven (7) spaces 
is required. Thirteen (13) spaces are being provided on-site.  
 
Ms. Pollan explained that the applicant contacted her prior to the meeting and would not be able 
to attend the meeting due to illness. He was not able to find anyone to appear on his behalf. Ms. 
Pollan advised the applicant stated he was agreeable with the CPC making a recommendation in 
his absence but if there are concerns that cannot be addressed at this time, the Commission can opt 
to continue the request so the applicant could be present. 
 
Chairman Marsh advised that if the Commission feels inclined to approve the request, they move 
forward or if further information is needed, the applicant should be granted a chance to speak on 
his own behalf. 
 
Chairman Marsh opened the hearing and asked if there were any questions for staff. 
 
Commissioner Costantino asked if the plan was identical to the one that was presented in 2023. 
 
Ms. Pollan replied it was the same. 
 
Seeing no more questions, Chairman Marsh made a motion to close the public hearing. 
Commissioner Beach seconded the motion and motion passed 7-0. 
 

Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to recommend approval of the request as 
presented. Vice Chairman Southard seconded the motion. Motion passed 7-0. 

 
ADJOURN 
 

With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Marsh adjourned the regular business 
meeting at 8:12 p.m. 
 
 
      
Bryan Marsh, Chairman APPROVED




